Examination Regulations for the Double Degree Bachelor's Programme "Public Governance across Borders" at the Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster and the Universiteit Twente of 31 July 2013

Based on § 2 Abs. 4 and § 64 Abs. 1 of the *Gesetz über die Hochschulen des Landes Nordrhein-Westfalen (Hochschulgesetz – HG)* (Universities and Colleges of North Rhine-Westphalia Act) as amended by the *Hochschulfreiheitsgesetz* (Higher Education Autonomy Act) of 31 October 2006 (GV NRW p. 474), amended last on 18 December 2013 (GV. NRW. p. 672) and in accordance with the Dutch Higher Education and Research Act (Wet op het Hoger Onderwijs en Wetenschappelijk onderzoek, short WHW, section 7.59 and section 7.13 on Teaching and Examination Regulations) the University of Münster and the University of Twente have published the following Examination Regulations:

Contents:

§ 1	Area of Application of the Exam	mination Regulations
J -		

- § 2 Goal of the Programme
- § 3 Bachelor's Degree
- § 4 Examination Board
- § 5 Admission to the Bachelor's Examination
- § 6 Standard Duration, Workload, credits (Leistungspunkte)
- § 7 Content of the Programme
- § 8 Types of Courses
- § 9 Structure of the Programme and of the Examination, Description of Modules
- § 10 Coursework *(Studienleistungen)* and required examinations *(Prüfungsleistungen)*, Registration
- § 11 Multiple Choice Examinations
- § 12 Bachelor's Thesis
- § 13 Acceptance and Grading of Bachelor's Thesis
- § 14 Examiners and Observers
- § 15 Recognition of coursework (Studienleistungen) and required examinations (Prüfungsleistungen)
- § 16 Adjustments for Handicapped and Chronically Ill Students
- § 17 Passing the Bachelor's Examination, Retaking of Examinations
- § 18 Grading of Single Examinations, Module Grades, and Calculation of Overall Grade
- § 19 Bachelor's Diploma
- § 20 Diploma Supplement and Transcript of Records
- § 21 Access to Examination Files
- § 22 Non-Appearance, Withdrawal, Deception, Breach of Regulations
- § 23 Invalidity of Single Examinations
- § 24 Revocation of Bachelor's Degree
- § 25 Coming into Force and Publication

Appendix I: Glossary

Appendix II: Module Descriptions
Appendix III: Bachelor Thesis Guide

§ 1 Area of Application of the Examination Regulations

- (1) These Examination Regulations apply to the Joint Bachelor's Degree Programme "Public Governance across Borders" at the Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster (D), short Münster University or WWU, and the Universiteit Twente/Twente University (Enschede/NL), short the UT.
- (2) The Student Charter of Twente University applies were specific programme requirements and student regulations concerning the study at Twente University are concerned. The student charter consists of two parts: the institutional section (ISS) and the academic section (FSS). Parts of the academic section are the Teaching and Examination Regulations (OER) and the Rules and Regulations of the Examination Boards (R&R), as adopted in accordance with section 7.13 of the Higher Education and Research Act.

§ 2 Goal of the Programme

The Bachelor's Programme "Public Governance across Borders" is an undergraduate degree course which aims to equip students with academic as well as professional knowledge and skills so that they can map public issues, analyse their causes and contribute to the design of effective solutions. Such analyses and problem approaches include different levels of scale (local, regional, national, European and international), while a special focus is laid on the European Union and its institutions and the process of European integration.

Within the programme, students acquire knowledge in the areas of Political Science, Public Administration, European Studies, Law and Economics. The programme also focuses on a sound methodological training in methods of the Social Sciences. The scientific training is backed by professional qualifications. Students learn to work and think in a target-oriented manner and according to scientific rules. They also learn to critically question and debate scientific findings and take responsibility for their own actions.

The Bachelor's Programme furthermore aims to prepare students for admission to a Master's Programme.

§ 3 Bachelor's Degree

The successful candidate will be awarded the academic degree "Bachelor of Science" (BSc) with the adjunct "in Public Governance across Borders".

§ 4 Examination Board

(1) Fachbereich o6 (Faculty o6) of the Westfälische-Wilhelms Universität Münster and Faculteit management en Bestuur (School of Management and Governance) of the Universiteit Twente jointly appoint an examination board to organize and supervise the examinations within these Examination Regulations. The board reports to the respective faculties, and, if applicable, provides suggestions for innovations on and development of the Examination Regulations.

- (2) The examination board (WWU: *Prüfungsausschuss*, UT: *examencommissie*) consists of the chair, his/her deputy and six additional members. Each university elects the same number of members to the examination board. Chair, deputy chair and two additional members are selected from the group of full professors, two members from the group of academic staff and two members from the group of students. The student board members are elected at the WWU.
- (3) The elections/appointments for the groups of professors and academic staff are valid for two years, for the group of students one year. Re-election is possible.
- (4) Chairmanship of the examination board alternates between the two universities with every election period.
- (5) Members of the examination board are either elected by the representatives of the groups in the *Fachbereichsrat* (faculty board) (WWU) or appointed by the Head of Faculty (UT). All members of the examination board are confirmed by the faculty board *(Fachbereichsrat)* at the WWU and by the Dean at the UT.
- (6) Members from the group of students do not cooperate in the grading and recognition of course work and required examinations, the setting of examination tasks and the selection of examiners. They also do not have voting-rights concerning these matters.
- (7) The examination board has a quorum if the chair or deputy chair, two members from the group of professors and two additional members are present. Decisions are made by simple majority; in the case of equality of votes the chair, or in his/her absence the deputy chair, has the deciding vote. Concerning matters referred to in § 4 (6), the quorum is reached once the chair or deputy chair and three additional non-student members are present.
- (8) The examination board can transfer regular and undisputed tasks to its chair. This is not applicable to decisions on appeals (*Widersprüche*).
- (9) The Examinations Office (WWU: *Prüfungsamt*, UT: *Bureau Onderwijszaken*) acts as agent of the examination board.
- (10) Members of the examination board may attend all examinations.
- (11) The members of the examination board have an obligation of maintaining confidentiality. Board members who are not already placed under such an obligation through their position as a state employee have to be placed under this obligation by the chair. Examination board meetings are not public.

§ 5 Admission to the Bachelor's Examination

Admission to the bachelor's examination is granted through enrolment in the Bachelor's Programme "Public Governance across Borders" at the Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster and the Universiteit Twente, provided the enrolment is upheld until the time of the final

examination. Enrolment is to be refused should the applicant have finally failed an examination in the programme "Public Governance across Borders" or a comparable programme.

§ 6 Standard Duration, Workload, Leistungspunkte (credits)

- (1) The standard duration of studies until graduation, including all examinations and bachelor's thesis, is three academic years. An academic year is divided into:
 - two semesters at Münster University
 - two semesters at Twente University, each semester consisting of two quartiles of ten weeks each.
- (2) For passing from the first into the second year of study, students must reach 45 credits (WWU: Leistungspunkt/LP, UT: European Credit/EC) during the first year. In case students fail to reach at least 45 credits, they may not proceed with the programme at Twente University until the requirements are met.
- (3) For successful graduation, students must gain 180 credits. Each year contains modules with a total of 60 credits. Credits are used to assess the overall workload for students quantitatively and include course attendance as well as pre- and postpreparation, examinations and examination preparation as well as the final thesis and work placements. One credit equals a workload of 28 hours. The annual volume therefore equals 1680 hours (5040 hours for the programme). Credits are granted according to the ECTS (European Credit Transfer System) grading system.

§ 7 Content of the Programme

(1) In addition to the bachelor's thesis, the Bachelor's Programme "Public Governance across Borders" comprises the successful completion of the following list of modules. A closer description of the modules is to be found in the appendix of these Examination Regulations:

List of mandatory Modules:

Year 1:

- Integration Module: (12 EC)
 - o Programme Introduction "Comparative Public Governance" (5 EC)
 - Course/Excursion: Institutions of Public Governance (7 EC)
- Core Module: Basic Course (lecture + tutorial) "Comparative Politics" (6 EC)
- Core Module: Basic Course (lecture + tutorial) "International Relations" (6 EC)
- Methods: "Methods I" (4 EC) and "Statistics I" + Tutorial (6 EC); together 10 EC

Year 2:

- Core Module: Value for Money (15 EC)
- Core Module: Best Practices in Public Governance (15 EC)

Year 3:

- Thesis Semester:
 - Quartile 3: preparatory courses and colloquia at Twente University and Münster University (15 EC)
 - o Quartile 4: Bachelor thesis and defence (15 EC)

List of elective mandatory courses/modules:

Year 1:

- Core Electives:
 - Basic Courses (lecture + tutorial):
 - "Political Theory" OR
 - "The Political System of Germany" (6 EC each)
 - 2 Courses (standard or reading course) from the general course offer (10 EC; 5 EC each)
- Elective Tracks:
 - o Dutch-German Studies (10EC) OR
 - o European Public Law (10 EC)

Year 2:

• Elective Tracks:

Global Governance (30 EC)

- o Quartile 3: Optional Module "Global Governance I" (15 EC)
- Quartile 4: Optional Module "Global Governance II" (15 EC)

OR European Governance (30 EC)

- o Quartile 3: Optional Module "European Governance I" (15 EC)
- o Quartile 4: Optional Module "European Governance II" (15 EC)

OR (Sub-)national Governance (30 EC)

- Quartile 3: Optional Module "(Sub-)national Governance I" (15 EC)
- o Quartile 4: Optional Module "(Sub-)national Governance II" (15 EC)

Year 3:

- Core Electives:
- Quartile 1:
 - o Optional Module "Advanced Professional Skills" (15 EC) OR
 - o Optional Module "ab extra" (15 EC)
- Quartile 2:
 - o Optional Module "Advanced Research Skills" (15 EC) OR
 - o Optional Module: "ab extra" (15 EC) OR
- Optional Module "Erasmus exchange" (30 EC) OR
- Optional Module "Internship" (30 EC)

- (2) Successful graduation requires 180 credits. 15 credits are awarded for the bachelor's thesis.
- (3) It is not possible for students from the Bachelor's Programme "Public Governance across Borders" to take courses from Master's Programmes at either the WWU or the UT.
- (4) Language of tuition:
 - WWU: Courses will be held mainly in German. This applies especially to the methodological training and the basic courses.
 - UT: Tuition will be completely in English.

§ 8 Types of Courses and Modules

Münster University:

Basic courses (Grundkurse) and tutorials: Basic courses transfer knowledge on central theoretical and analytical concepts of specific fields of political science. The content ranges from classical concepts to current developments and theoretical debates of analytical and/or normative nature. Basic courses are completed by tutorials that deepen the content of the lecture and focus on methodological and presentation skills.

Standard courses (Standardkurse): Standard courses introduce specific research areas of political science. They give a profound overview on contemporary and classic questions and challenges of their specific research area. Thereby, they build on knowledge acquired within the core modules in year one and the basic courses in year two. Thus they encourage and indeed require from students to look into concepts, issues and methods of political science more deeply. Finally, within these courses, selected contemporary developments are methodologically and theoretically analysed and discussed.

Reading courses (Lektürekurse): Reading courses deepen the ability of students to read and understand political science texts. The range of courses encompasses classical authors and theories of political science as well as contemporary texts.

Twente University:

A module at Twente University consists of 15 ECTS. Modules run (sequentially) for 10 weeks.

Modules are made up from different course types, including e.g. standard courses and methodological courses. A detailed description will follow together with the module descriptions from Twente University.

Joint tuition:

Integration module: The integration module serves as introductory module to the programme and thus serves two aims: to make students familiar with the programme and their fellow students and support cooperation between the two universities and students are introduced to their new learning environments, including for instance trips from Münster University to Twente University and library tours. The module also provides general as well as programme specific information,

knowledge and skills, such as ethics in science and how to write course work and an introduction into institutions of public governance on different governance levels. Also, the module serves to form a collective identity and understanding of belonging between the students and foster cooperation between the Münster and Twente University.

Bachelor's thesis module:

The thesis semester will involve teaching in research methodology that is particularly relevant to the thesis research (proposal writing, reporting). Thesis research will be done and assessed individually but groups of students will be formed that work on similar research topics ("thesis circles"). These topics will be linked to on-going research at the department. The actual thesis research and writing will take place mainly in the final quarter (3.4). It is finalized by research seminars during which students present and discuss their thesis, under supervision of staff. The final assessment of the thesis and the supervision will be separated (i.e. supervisors are no longer the final assessors of the thesis). This module will also involve the development of life-long learning skills (including job market orientation).

§ 9 Structure of the Programme and of the Examination, Description of Modules

- (1) The programme is divided into modules that are defined by topic, content and time-frame. Educational objectives and learning targets are defined for each module and highlight which qualifications in respect to the programme goals are to be acquired by students. Modules may be comprised of courses with different teaching and learning methods from one or several semester. At Münster University, a module comprises a minimum of five credits; at Twente University all modules comprise 15 credits. In accordance with the description of modules, some modules encompass elective courses.
- (2) The bachelor's examination consists of cumulative examinations as well as the final bachelor's thesis and its defence.
- (3) The description of modules defines the module structure and the number of credits that can be attained. A credit equals 28 hours of work (see also § 6 (3)).
- (4) In order to successfully pass a module, students have to complete all the required coursework and pass all examinations assigned to the module.
- (5) Admission to a module can be bound to requirements, e.g. successful participation in another module/other modules.
- (6) Specific knowledge may be required for participation in certain courses.
- (7) Admission to a course can be conditional on the successful participation in another course from the same module or the passing of an examination from the same module.
- (8) Requirements and conditions according to § 9 (5)-(7) are stated in the description of modules.
- (9) The description of modules states the cycle in which a module is offered.

§ 10

Coursework (Studienleistungen) and required examinations (Prüfungsleistungen), Registration

- (1) The description of modules states the requirements for attending a course.
- (2) Within a module, at least one required examination (WWU: Prüfungsleistung; UT: examen) has to be passed. Additionally, coursework may be asked for that is not relevant for the examination. Required coursework and examinations may be: written and oral examinations, presentations and term papers, work placements and reports, practical classes and minutes.
- (3) The instructor defines the components of required examinations or coursework (WWU: Studienleistung; UT: examenonderdelen) and the criteria for grading. These conditions are announced at the beginning of each course.
- (4) Instructors may make the successful completion of coursework conditional for admission to the examination.
- (5) The description of modules provides information on required coursework and examinations as to their type, duration and scope. Coursework and required examinations form part of the bachelor's examination.
- (6) In order to participate in required examinations, students must register for them first. Deadlines for registration are made public centrally:
 - WWU in QISPOS and on the Institute website.
 - UT on "blackboard"/SIS.

Registration may be revoked by students without explanation within the time limit indicated by QISPOS or SIS.

§ 11 Multiple Choice Examinations

- (1) Written examinations may also consist of or include multiple choice questions. In the case of pure multiple choice examinations, all examinees receive the same items. All examination items must be related to the content of the module.
- (2) Examinations must be checked for adequacy with respect to the stated educational objective of the module. Should items be inadequate in this sense, they may not be considered for grading. The lower number of items must be taken into account and may not be disadvantageous for the examinees.
- (3) An examination consisting entirely of multiple-choice items has been passed if at least 50 per cent of the items are answered correctly or if the number of correct answers is not more than 10 per cent below the average performance of all examinees.
- (4) If the candidate has answered the minimum number of items required to pass correctly, grading follows the criteria below:

"excellent/sehr gut", if at least 75 per cent,

"good/gut", if at least 50 per cent, but less than 75 per cent,

"satisfactory/befriedigend", if at least 25 per cent, but less than 50 per cent,

"pass/ausreichend", if no or less than 25 per cent

of the additional examination items are answered correctly.

(3) The above-named criteria also apply to examinations that are only partly multiple-choice examinations. The overall grade of the examination is calculated from the weighted arithmetic mean of the multiple choice part and the other part of the examination. The parts will be weighted according to their share of the overall examination in per cent.

§ 12 Bachelor's Thesis

- (1) Through the bachelor's thesis candidates are to show that they are capable of tackling a scientific problem within a given period of time. They show their use of scientific methods and their ability to display their results coherently. The thesis must not be longer than 10,000 words. It has to be written in English.
- (2) The bachelor's thesis is issued and supervised in accordance with § 14. Candidates may propose the topic of the thesis.
- (3) The Examinations Office issues the thesis topic on behalf of the examination board and following the applicant's request. The applicant must have fulfilled the following requirements:
 - Successful pass of the first-year examination at the UT, meaning having reached 45 EC during the first year.
 - At least 135 credit points.
 - The date and time of the issuing of the thesis topic has to be recorded.
 - The bachelor's thesis plan must have been approved by the relevant supervisor/examiner.
- (4) The candidate has 12 weeks to complete the bachelor's thesis. Topic and scope of the thesis have to be defined in such a way that it can be completed within this time. The thesis topic can be refused by the candidate only once and only within the first week.
- (5) In exceptional cases, the examination board may extend the period for completion of the bachelor's thesis once for no longer than two weeks.
- (6) On account of serious grounds that make working on the bachelor's thesis considerably difficult or impossible, the deadline can be extended accordingly upon application by the candidate. Reasons for an extension can be sudden illness or unalterable technical problems. Serious grounds may also be having to care for a child younger than twelve or the need to nurse or care for a husband or wife or a registered civil partner, or the need to nurse or care for a direct relative or first-degree relative by marriage in the case of this person being in the need of care. The examination board decides about the extension and can ask the candidate for written proof (e.g. medical certificate). Instead of extending the period of time for the bachelor's thesis, the examination board also may decide to issue a new topic in the case of the candidate being unable

to work on the thesis for more than six months. In such a case, issuing a new topic does not count as repetition as defined by $\S 17 (7)$.

- (7) With exemption from the examination board, the thesis may be written in a language other than English.
- (8) The bachelor's thesis must contain a title page, a table of contents, a list of sources and a bibliography. All passages of the thesis that make use of the work of others, either by wording or by content, have to be indicated by stating the original source. Candidates have to declare that they wrote the thesis on their own and only used the sources and means indicated in the thesis and have identified all quotations. Such a declaration also has to be given for all tables, sketches, drawings and pictures etc.

§ 13 Acceptance and Grading of Bachelor's Thesis

- (1) The bachelor's thesis has to be submitted to the "Bureau Onderwijszaken" (BOZ) (Examinations Office) at the UT and to the two supervisors within the deadline. The thesis has to be handed in to the supervisors (paper copies) at least five working days before the thesis defence. A digital version has to be sent to scripties_mb@mb.utwente.nl. If the thesis is not handed in within the deadline, it will be considered as failed in accordance with § 22 (1). Furthermore, the candidate will add a written declaration of consent to his/her thesis being saved in a database for the purpose of detecting plagiarism and to its being compared with other texts and works for identification of any analogies.
- (2) The thesis must be supervised jointly by a supervisor from both the WWU and the UT. One of the supervisors assigns the thesis topic. The candidate chooses a first and second supervisor in mutual agreement with these persons. First and second supervisor are named in the application for the bachelor's thesis in accordance with § 14 (1).

If the candidate does not claim his/her right to propose supervisors, they are assigned by the examination board.

- (3) Grading has to follow § 18 (1). Candidates receive a written statement and explanation of the grade. The thesis grade equals the arithmetic average of the individual grades of the two supervisors following § 18 (5), sentences 3 and 4, unless the difference is greater than 2.0. Should this be the case or is one grade a "fail" but the other a pass or better, the examination board will appoint a third examiner to grade the bachelor's thesis. In this case, the overall thesis grade equals the arithmetic average of the three individual grades. However, the thesis can only be graded as a pass or better if at least two grades are a pass or better.
- (4) The assessment of the bachelor's thesis shall take no longer than eight weeks, or 12 weeks if a third examiner is appointed.
- (5) Detailed and up-to-date information on writing and defending the bachelor's thesis can be found in the Bachelor Thesis Guide on the website of the UT Centre of European Studies. The information contained in the Bachelor Thesis Guide forms part of and is attached to this Examination Regulations. It is regularly updated and accessible at http://www.utwente.nl/mb/ces/ba-dd/.

§ 14 Examiners and Observers

- (1) The examination board names examiners and supervisors for examinations and the bachelor's thesis. In the case of oral examinations or the defence of the bachelor's thesis, it also names observers.
- (2) All persons qualified in terms of § 65 (1) *Hochschulgesetz Nordrhein-Westfalen (HG NRW)* (Universities Act of the Federal State of North Rhine-Westphalia) (WWU) or Article 7.12c WHW (UT) who regularly teach in the programme in which the examination is taken or the thesis written (Public Governance across Borders) can be appointed as examiner or supervisor. Exceptions have to be decided upon by the examination board.
- (3) Only persons with a bachelor's degree, an equal qualification or higher degree can be appointed as observer.
- (4) Examiners and observers are independent in their decisions. Written examinations may be designed by academic staff members. These may also carry out a first assessment of the examination.
- (5) Oral examinations are taken by an examiner in the presence of an observer. Before grading the examination, the examiner has to consult the observer. Minutes of the examination including the most important content and the grade are taken and signed by examiner and observer.
- (6) Written examinations in the context of modules are assessed by a single examiner. Assessment and grading of the bachelor's thesis follow § 13.
- (7) Written and oral examinations that form a third attempt in accordance with § 17 (2) sentence 1 have to be assessed by two examiners. The overall grade equals the arithmetic average of the two individual grades. § 18 (5) sentences 3 and 4 come into effect respectively.

Students from the same programme can take part in oral examinations as audience if the candidate does not object. The audience is not allowed to counsel the candidate or notify the candidate of the result of the examination.

§ 15 Recognition of coursework (Studienleistungen) and required examinations (Prüfungsleistungen)

- (1) Coursework and required examinations attained within the same programme at other universities in Germany or the Netherlands are accepted without their equivalence being checked.
- (2) Study times, coursework and examination results from other universities will be recognized if equivalent. The verification of equivalence is decided by the examination board. Equivalence has to be granted if study times, course work and foreign examination results are equivalent to the requirements of the joint degree "Public Governance across Borders" in terms of content and scope. The verification of equivalence should not be a schematic comparison, but an overall evaluation.

- (3) Equivalence of coursework and required examinations from non-German or non-Dutch universities is assessed according to the guidelines and agreements of the *Kultusministerkonferenz* (Standing Conference of the Ministers of Education and Cultural Affairs) and the *Hochschulrektorenkonferenz* (German Rectors' Conference). In case of doubt, the Central Office for Foreign Education (*Zentralstelle für ausländisches Bildungswesen*) can be consulted.
- (4) Knowledge and skills of students who are entitled to start the programme in a higher semester on account of a placement test will be given credit concerning coursework and required examinations. The results of the placement test are binding for the examination board.
- (5) In the case of recognition of study achievements and examination results from other universities with comparable grading systems, grades are transferred into the grading scheme according to § 18 (1) and included in the final grade. In the case of non-comparable grading systems, the course will be marked as "passed". Should this make the grading of a module impossible, the module grade will not be included in the final grade. Students have to hand in the necessary documentation of their study and examination achievements in order for them to be recognized. Study achievements from non-comparable grading systems may only amount to 10 per cent of all grades. Beyond that, they cannot be recognized.
- (6) The examination board is responsible for recognizing study achievements and examination results from other universities. Programme coordinators have to be consulted concerning the equivalence of results.
- (9) The decision on recognition has to be communicated to the student within four weeks of the application and submission of documentation.

§ 16 Adjustments for Handicapped and Chronically Ill Students

- (1) If a student proves that because of chronic illness or disability it is impossible for him/her to take part in an examination or render the required performance partly or completely within the given time, the examination board has to extend completion time or the examination period or allow a form of examination that meets the special needs of the candidate. This also applies to coursework.
- (2) The student may ask the examination board to consult the department or university disability representative within the decision process according to § 16 (1).
- (3) The student may be asked for adequate proof of the illness or disability in the form of a medical certificate or disability ID card.

§ 17 Passing the Bachelor's Examination, Retaking of Examinations

(1) Candidates pass the bachelor's examination if, following § 7, § 9 and § 10 and the description of modules, all modules and the bachelor's thesis have been passed (minimum grade: 4,0 (WWU); 6 (UT)) (§ 18 (1)). 180 credit points have to be achieved by the candidate.

- (2) With exception of the bachelor thesis, students have three attempts per course to pass an examination.
- (3) Course repetition in order to improve grades is not possible.
- (4) If an examination has not been passed after three attempts (§ 17 (2)), the module has been failed.
- (5) Failed comparable modules from other universities will be treated as failed examinations/modules within the Bachelor's Programme "Public Governance across Borders" and taken into account for the number of possible attempts. Students who transfer from another university therefore must hand in an overview of passed and failed examinations, including the number of failed attempts from their former university, to the Examinations Office (WWU: *Prüfungsamt*, UT: BOZ). This also applies to students who have studied at either the University of Münster or the University of Twente and failed comparable modules in those programmes.
- (6) In the case of failing a course within an elective module, students may choose to switch the course after their first or second attempt. In that case, § 17 (2) and (4) apply starting with the failed attempt.
- (7) In the case of failing a course within an elective track, students may choose between two options:
 - Option 1: Students can decide to treat the course/module as in § 17 (2) and (4). In that case it is not possible to switch to another track.
 - Option 2: Students can decide to switch the track after their first attempt. In that case § 17 (2) and (4) apply to the new course/module. This is only possible once.
- (8) Should the bachelor's thesis and its defence not be passed, students have a second attempt. For the second attempt, another topic must be chosen/issued. A third attempt is not possible. The thesis topic can only be replaced according to § 12 (4) in the second attempt if this possibility was not made use of in the first attempt.
- (9) In modules that are not provided by Faculty o6 at the WWU or the School of Management and Governance at the UT, examination regulations of the other programme or faculty apply. This is the case for modules provided by the *Zentrum für Niederlande-Studien* (Center for Netherlands-Studies, WWU) (module 5a).

Regulations concerning study and examination achievements and awarded credit points are stated within the module descriptions.

- (10) If a mandatory module or the bachelor's thesis has not been passed in the final attempt, the bachelor's examination has been ultimately failed.
- (11) If the bachelor's examination has been ultimately failed, the student receives a certificate that lists his/her gradings of coursework and required examinations. The student receives this certificate after presenting his/her exmatriculation. The certificate is signed and stamped according to § 19 (4).

Grading of Single Examinations, Module Grades, and Calculation of Overall Grade

(1) The examiners determine the grades of single examinations and their components using their national grading system. This can be transferred to the other grading system by applying the following scheme:

WWU	UT	Definition ECTS
1,0	10	EXCELLENT – Outstanding performance with only minor errors
1,3/1,7	9	VERY GOOD — Above the average standard but with some errors
2,0/2,3/2,7	8	GOOD – Sound work with a number of notable errors
3,0/3,3/3,7	7	SATISFACTORY – Fair but with significant shortcomings
4,0	6	PASS –Performance meets the minimum criteria
5,0	5	FAIL – Some more work required before the credit can be awarded
6,0	4	FAIL – Considerable further work is required

Diversification of grading at the WWU is possible by decreasing or increasing the grades by 0,3. The grades 0,7; 4,3; 4,7; 5,3 and 5,7 do not exist.

- (2) Grades are weighted and rounded within the national systems.
 - WWU: Decimal points after the first position are deleted without being rounded.
 - UT: Fractional grades ≥ .50 are rounded to the nearest higher whole grade. Fractional grades < .50 are rounded to the nearest lower whole mark.
- (3) The grading of oral examinations must be communicated to the student and the respective Examinations Office at either the WWU or the UT within one day of the examination. For written examinations this time span is
 - eight weeks at the WWU
 - 20 working days (four weeks) at the UT.
- (4) Results of written examinations are published in public lists at the faculties/institutes, or in QISPOS (WWU) or SIS (UT), and can be accessed by students. Students are notified about their performance in the bachelor's thesis in written form. The date of the publication/information must be recorded. The list identifies students by their matriculation number. Students who fail the third attempt according to § 17 (2) and (4) are informed individually. The notifications as defined by § 18 (4) sentences 1 and 2 contain information on legal remedies.
- (5) For each module the grade equals the grades of the required examinations and coursework. Grades for individual examinations figure within the overall grade for a module. Decimal places after the first place are not considered. Module grades are derived according to the following system:

WWU	UT	
≤ 1, 5	10	EXCELLENT
1,6 - 2,0	9	VERY GOOD
2,1 - 3,0	8	GOOD
3,1 - 3,5	7	SATISFACTORY
3,6 – 4,0	6	PASS
> 4,0	5	FAIL

- (6) The overall grade of the bachelor's examination is a weighted arithmetic average of the individual modules. The grade of a module is the weighted arithmetic average of the corresponding courses. Weighting is based on the ratio of the credit points of a course examination/module grade, to the overall number of credit points of a module/the bachelor's examination. The grade of the bachelor's thesis and defence count for 27 per cent of the overall grade.
- (7) Additionally to the overall grade according to § 18 (8), a relative grade according to the ECTS grading-system is determined.
- (8) The overall grade of the bachelor's examination is determined according to the following table:

WWU	UT	
≤ 1,5	10	EXCELLENT
1,6 - 2,0	9	VERY GOOD
2,1 - 3,0	8	GOOD
3,1 - 3,5	7	SATISFACTORY
3,6 – 4,0	6	PASS
> 4,0	5	FAIL

§ 19 Bachelor's Diploma

- (1) After successful graduation, the candidate receives a bachelor's diploma, stating the graduation and the degree according to § 3 and the final grade, and a diploma supplement with details of the candidate's study achievements.
- (2) The diploma and supplement are dated from the day of the last required examination.
- (3) The diploma and supplement are issued in English.
- (4) The diploma is signed by the chair of the examination board and the two heads of faculty. It is stamped with the seals of the two faculties.

§ 20 Diploma Supplement and Transcript of Records

- (1) In addition to the diploma, the successful candidate will receive a diploma supplement, including a transcript of records. The diploma supplement informs about the profile of the Bachelor's Programme. It informs about the study programme, the courses and modules attended, the examinations taken, and the individual profile chosen.
- (2) The diploma supplement also informs about the topic of the bachelor's thesis, the grade of the bachelor's thesis and defence and the duration of the bachelor's studies.
- (3) The diploma supplement is issued according to the recommendations given by the *Hochschulrektorenkonferenz* and according to the WHW section 7.11.

§ 21 Access to Examination Files

After completion of each required examination, candidates are granted access to the documentation of their examinations (the examination papers/term papers, assessments and minutes). Access must be applied for at the examination committee within two weeks of the declaration of results. The examination committee decides on the time and the place of access. The same applies to the bachelor's thesis.

§ 22 Non-Appearance, Withdrawal, Deception, Breach of Regulations

- (1) A required examination is considered as a fail (WWU: 5,0, UT: 5) if the candidate does not attend the examination at the designated time or withdraws after beginning an assignment/examination without good cause. An examination is also considered as failed if a required written examination (term paper, report, bachelor's thesis etc.) is not completed within the deadline. Reasons for non-attendance or withdrawal are illnesses that make attending the examination or meeting the deadline impossible. Other reasons are maternity protection regulations or care for husband or wife, registered civil partner or direct relative or first-degree relative by marriage.
- (2) The reasons for non-appearance or withdrawal must be submitted immediately to the examination board in written form. In the case of illness, the candidate has to provide a medical certificate. The candidate is informed about the decision in writing. If the reasons have been accepted, a new examination date will be determined.
- (3) In the case of deception or use of unauthorized material or devices, the examination is considered as a fail (WWU: 5,0, UT: 5). Evidence will be assessed and documented by the respective examiner/s. If a candidate disrupts an examination, he/she may be excluded. In this case, this examination is considered as not completed and will be marked as a fail (WWU: 5,0, UT: 5). In severe cases the examination board can exclude a candidate from further examinations and/or the bachelor's examination entirely. In that case the bachelor's examination is considered as "failed" (WWU: 5,0, UT: 5). The reasons for the exclusion have to be documented.
- (4) The candidate is informed immediately about a detrimental decision and its reasons by the examination board in written form. This decision must be accompanied by an explanation of the legal remedies available. The candidate must be heard before a final decision is reached.

§ 23 Invalidity of Single Examinations

- (1) If a candidate's attempt of deception in a required examination or the bachelor's thesis becomes known after the diploma has been issued, the examination board can declare the bachelor's examination or single examinations invalid.
- (2) If the requirements for admission to a module, examination or the bachelor's thesis were not fulfilled and the candidate had no intention of acting dishonestly and if this fact becomes known after the grading of the candidate's examination or the issue of the diploma, there are no consequences for the candidate. If the candidate was wrongly admitted to an examination or the bachelor's thesis through intentional deception, the examination board decides upon legal

consequences under consideration of the *Verwaltungsverfahrensgesetz für das Land Nordrhein-Westfalen* (Administrative Procedures Act for North Rhine-Westphalia) and WHW section 7.12. Application of the legal regulations depends on

- Supervision of bachelor thesis: the university of the first supervisor
- Required examinations: the university at which the examination took place.
- (3) The candidate must be heard before a decision is reached by the examination board.
- (4) An incorrect diploma is confiscated and, if applicable, replaced. A decision according to § 23 (1) and (2) is excluded after a period of five years after the issue date of the diploma.

§ 24 Revocation of Bachelor's Degree

The bachelor's degree can be revoked if a deception or the lack of essential requirements for awarding the bachelor's degree becomes known. The revocation requires a common decision of the legal entities (examination board) of Münster University, Faculty o6 and Twente University, School of Management and Governance. § 23 applies.

§ 25 Coming into Force and Publication

The Examination Regulations will become valid the day after their publication in the official announcements of both universities (WWU: Amtliche Bekanntmachungen; UT: officiële mededelingen). The regulations apply to all students enrolled in the Bachelor's Programme "Public Governance across Borders" from the winter semester 2013/14 onwards.

Issued following the resolution of the faculty board of Faculty o6 of the Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität on 3 July 2013 and of the Head of Faculty of the School Management en Bestuur of the Universiteit Twente on 19 July 2013.

Münster, 31 July 2013

Rector

Prof. Ursula Nelles

Enschede, 26 August 2013

Head of Faculty

Prof. Ramses Wessel

Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster: These Regulations are hereby announced according to the Regulations on the Announcement of Regulations, Publication of Agreements and the Declaration of Statutes of 8 February 1991 (AB Uni 91/1), as amended on 23 December 1998 (AB Uni 99/4).

Universiteit Twente: The Head of Faculty of the School of Management and Governance has resolved to, on behalf of the Executive Board of the University of Twente, adopt the programme-specific student charter, for the Bachelor's Programme Comparative Public Governance.

Münster, 31 July 2013

Rector

Prof. Ursula Nelles

Enschede, 26 August 2013

Head of Faculty

Prof. Ramses Wessel

APPENDIX I: GLOSSARY

German English Dutch Dekan Head of Faculty Decaan Fachbereich faculty Faculteit Fachbereichsrat faculty board Faculteitsraad Leistungspunkt (LP) credit (EC) Studiepunt (SP) Modulabschlussprüfung final module examination Examen

Pflichtmodul mandatory module Verplichte module
Prüfungsamt Examinations Office Bureau Ondervijszaken
Prüfungsausschuss examination board Examencommissie
Prüfungsleistung required examination Verplicht examen
Studienleistung coursework Exmaneonderdeel

Wahlpflichtmodul *elective mandatory module* Keuzemodule

Proofread by Supportstelle Englisch, WWU Münster 2012.

APPENDIX II: MODULE DESCRIPTIONS

Title (German): Integrationsmodul: Public Governance

Title (English): Integration Module: Public Governance

Programme: Public Governance across Borders

1 Number: 1 Status: [x] Compulsory [] Elective

[] every term [] 1 Sem. Semester: EC: Workload (hrs.):

,	Cycle:	[] every term [x] winter term	Duration:	[] 1 Sem.	Semester:	EC:	Workload (hrs.):
	Cycle.	[] summer term	Duration.	[x] 2 Sem.	1,2	12	336

	Struc	ture:					
3	No.	Туре	Course	Status	EC	Contact hours (hrs. + SWH¹)	Self-study (hrs.)
	1.	S	Introduction to Public Governance	[x] P [] WP	5	30 (2)	110
	2.	S	Institutions of Public Governance	[x] P [] WP	7	60 (2)	136

Content:

Introduction to Public Governance

This module is designed as integration module based on a bi-national approach with joint tuition from both universities. A lecturer from IfPol and a lecturer from MB agree on the contents of the module and cooperate in tuition. Thus, cooperation between lecturing staff from both universities and the institutes as such is strengthened.

The module aims at taking students closer to the structure and issue of their bachelor programme. It will introduce the field of public governance, but also make students familiar with the two universities they study at. The course will introduce terms of political science and public governance research, as well as of the participating disciplines, economics and law. It will also make students familiar with the ethics of scientific work and teach them skills required for their study, such as research, presenting and writing course work. As the programme start at Münster University, the course will include a "field trip" to Twente University and information on the Dutch structure of higher education.

Institutions of Public Governance

The second part of the module will specifically deal with institutions of public governance from a German-Dutch comparative perspective or on different administrational levels. If possible, this course will entail an excursion in order to give students an impression of the institutions with which they will be confronted more theoretically especially during the second year of their study.

The module also serves to enable students to get to know each other and form a collective understanding as a group. This is especially helpful, as most of the modules and courses within their study are shared with other programmes at Münster and Twente University.

Acquired competences:

5

Students acquire basic scientific competences especially tailored for political science and meeting general scientific requirements as well as specific requirements of Münster and Twente University. They will be introduced to contemporary and multi-disciplinary questions of public governance research and be asked to discuss and reflect these questions. Students will also be asked to work in teams to bolster their team competences.

In the second part of the module, students become familiar with relevant institutions of public governance. They learn about the challenges of governance at different political levels and to deal with these in a reflective and discursive manner.

¹ SWH: semester week hours (Semesterwochenstunden)

6	Description of electives within the module: None								
7	Assessment methods: [x] Final Examination [Modulabschlussprüfung (MAP)] [] Examination [Modulprüfung (MP)] [] Component Examinations [Modulteilprüfungen (MTP)]								
	Required performance in examinations:								
8	Quantity and form; connection to the course 2 Duration/ length overall grade of the module (%)								
	The lecturers choose between a written test of 90 minutes, a paper of about 4,500 words or several essays with an overall word count of 4,500 words								
	Required course work (grading optional):			1					
	Quantity and form; connection to the course			Duration/ length					
9	The lecturers may request oral presentations of about 30 minutes, preparatory reading of relevant texts (approx. one hour of reading per week), participation in group adjacent assignments, and other comparable assignments.								
	Prerequisites for attaining credit points:								
10	Credit points for the module can be attained if the entire module is passed successfully (the requirements of all relevant assignment need to be met)								
	Weighting of the grade of the module for the overall grade:								
11	The grade of the module weighs 6.6% for the overall grade.								
	Prerequisites for participation:								
12	No prerequisites								
	Attendance:								
13	Regular attendance is highly recommended.								
14	Usability in other programmes: The module consists of courses specifically designed for the Bachelor's Programme "Pubic Governance across Borders".								
	Person responsible for the module:	Department:							
15	N.N. (UT) Prof. Dr. Norbert Kersting (WWU) School of Management and Governance (UT) Fachbereich 6: Erziehungswissenschaft und Sozialwissenschaften (WWU)								
16	Other information: Registration for courses and examinations (UT) needs to be done via the electronic administration system of Twente University (OSIRIS). Please follow the hints for required course work and examinations as announced on Osiris (http://www.utwente.nl/onderwijssystemen/onderwijssystemen/osiris) Registration for courses and examinations (WWU) needs to be done via the electronic administration system of the Münster University. Please follow the hints for required course work and examinations as announced on the homepage of the Institute of Political Science.								

² Not applicable for final examination (Modulabschlussprüfung)

Title (Germ	an):		Politisch	Politische Theorie (WWU)									
Title (Engli	sh):		Political	Theory (WW	/U)								
Progra	ogramme: Public Governance across Borders													
1	Num	b er: 2a			Status	s:	[] C	ompı	ulsoi	ry		[x] Elec	tive	
2	Cycle	_] every [x] winte [] sumr		Duration	[X] 1 S			Ser	nesto	er:	EC: 6	Wor	kload (hrs.): 168
		cture: Type	Cours	e				St	tatus	<u> </u>	EC	Contact		Self-study
3												(hrs. +	•	(hrs.)
	1. 2.	L T	Tutoria	al Theory				[x] P [x] P	۱ <u>[]</u> ۱[]		3	30		54 54
4	politi discu trans conce tutor Withi class back	module I ical scie usses th fers kno epts as ial deep in the p ical the ground	eir legir owledge well as eens the orogram ories o of natio	thereby untimacy. The on centre current decontent of the folitical political political	nravels the erefore, the all analytical evelopment of the lectur module all order and	explanate critical all and no sand the eand foo lows study the forms the diff	tions persp ormati eoretic cuses dents ation ficulty	and control of the control of storing and con	e on oncerebate ethorates.	epts to such pts of a sof a dologous to the sof a contract to the soft a contract to the sof a contract to the soft a contract to	pehind orde f polit analyt gical a heorid make class	d political rs is also o ical science ical and/o nd presences of Europes them assic concep	order and liscusse e. It look normate ation skippean in ware of its of po	foundations of ad process and d. The module ks at classical ive nature. The cills. Itegration with the theoretical litical order on
5	Stude analy conce	/tical an epts and	quire a d norm d appro	nd deepe ative cond aches and		litical sci ed to refle	ence.	They and	gair discu	n kno uss th	wledg iese a	ge on class pproaches	ical and criticall	
6		Description of electives within the module: None												
7	[x] Fii	aminati	ninatior on [Mo	n [Modulal dulprüfun	bschlusspr g (MP)] Modulteilp)]						
	Requ	uired pe	erforma	ance in ex	camination	ıs:					1		ı	
8	Quar	ntity and	l form; o	connection	n to the cou	ırse ⁴					1	Duration/ ength	Weigh overa modu	ll grade of the
	The lecturer chooses between a written test of 90 about 4,500 words or several essays with an overall w							minutes, a paper of 90 min. /						

 ³ SWH: semester week hours (Semesterwochenstunden)
 ⁴ Not applicable for final examination (Modulabschlussprüfung)

	Required course work (grading optional):		,							
	Quantity and form; connection to the course Duration/ length									
9	The tutors and lecturers may request oral presentations of about 30 minutes, preparatory reading of relevant texts (approx. one hour of reading per week), participation in group assignments, writing of reviews, essays and summaries (up to 600 words) and other comparable assignments.									
	Prerequisites for attaining credit points:									
10	Credit points for the module can be attained if the entire module is passed successfully (the requirements of all relevant assignment need to be met)									
	Weighting of the grade of the module for the over	erall grade:								
11	The grade of the module weighs 3,3% for the overall grade.									
	Prerequisites for participation:									
12	No prerequisites									
	Attendance:									
13	Regular attendance is highly recommended.									
	Usability in other programmes:									
14	The module is designed for all bachelor programmes	of the Institute of Political Science								
	Person responsible for the module:	Department:								
15	Prof. Dr. Ulrich Willems (WWU) Fachbereich 6: Erziehungswissenschaft und Sozialwissenschaften (WWU)									
16	Other information: Registration for courses and examinations needs to be done via the electronic administration system of the university. Please follow the hints for required course work and examinations as announced on the homepage of the Institute of Political Science.									

Title (Germ	man): Grundlagen des politischen Systems der BRD (WWU)														
Title (Engli	sh):		Introduct	ion	to the Po	olitical	Syste	em of	Ge	rmany	(WWU)			
Progra	amm	e:		Public Go	overi	nance ac	ross B	orde	rs							
1	Num	ber: 2b	ı			Status:		[]	Com	oul	sory			[x] Electi	ve	
2	Cycl] every [x] winte [] sumr		Du	ration:		Sem. Sem			Semes	ter:		EC: 6	Wor	kload (hrs.): 168
		cture:							1				1.	Contact h	ours	Self-study
3	No.	Type	Cours	е						Sta	itus	EC		(hrs. + SV		(hrs.)
	1.	L	Politica	al System	of G	ermany			[x] F) [[] WP	3		30 (2)		54
	2.	T	Tutoria	al					[x] F) [[] WP	3		30 (2)		54
4	on the deve mode interest of national interest interest in the contract of the contract in the	ne polity lopmen ule the national ational national	v- and p ts and refore p cooper system relation	oolicy-dime challenge puts the ration. Wit s, the me	ensies. The Germann Ge	ons of these are man nathematical man nathematical manage in the manage	ne syse espectional sis on the copaec	tem a cially polit the tr way leutic	and vortical ransgraft medical	iew ed sys ress nod ctio	s it be by intestem we sion of lule 10 in the sion of the sion in	fore tl rnatio rithin bound and hat it	ne b nali the dari 11 en	oackgroun isation and framewo es and the on comp	d of code globers of the globers of	ny. It focusses urrent political palisation. The regional and connectedness politics and concepts and
5	In th politi this exam Addi	ical syst system iple of t tionally,	of the mage of the determinant of the decimal of th	nodule, stu he FRG. Th an evaluat nan politic nts acquire	ney a te th al sy e the	are able ne effect ystem. eoretical	to ana ts of §	ilyse globa meth	the balisation	asion on gic	c princi on nat al com	ples o tional peten	of co pol ces	onstitution litical syst concernir	and otems,	ndation of the organisation of based on the ory of political cal system.
6	Description of electives within the module: None															
7	[x] Fi	kaminati	ninatior on [Mo	ods: n [Modulal dulprüfun; ninations [g (M	P)]	_									
	Requ	uired pe	erforma	ance in ex	ami	inations	S:							,		
8	Quar	ntity and	l form; o	connection	ı to t	the cours	se ⁶						len	gth		l grade of the
	The lecturer chooses between a written test of 90 about 4,500 words or several essays with an overall w															

SWH: semester week hours (Semesterwochenstunden)
 Not applicable for final examination (Modulabschlussprüfung)

	Described course week (and discreption of)								
	Required course work (grading optional):								
	Quantity and form; connection to the course		Duration/ length						
9	The tutors and lecturers may request oral presentations of about 30 minutes, preparatory reading of relevant texts (approx. one hour of reading per week), participation in group assignments, writing of reviews, essays and summaries (up to 600 words) and other comparable assignments.								
	Prerequisites for attaining credit points:								
10	Credit points for the module can be attained if the entire module is passed successfully (the requirements of all relevant assignment need to be met)								
11	Weighting of the grade of the module for the overall grade:								
	The grade of the module weighs 3.3% for the overall grade.								
40	Prerequisites for participation:								
12	No prerequisites								
40	Attendance:								
13	Regular attendance is highly recommended.								
	Usability in other programmes:								
14	The module is designed for all bachelor programmes	of the Institute of Political Science							
	Person responsible for the module: Department:								
15	Prof. Dr. Klaus Schubert (WWU) Fachbereich 6: Erziehungswissenschaft und Sozialwissenschaften (WWU)								
	Other information:	be done vie the electronic - desire	stration system of the						
16	Registration for courses and examinations needs to be done via the electronic administration system of the university. Please follow the hints for required course work and examinations as announced on the homepage of the Institute of Political Science.								

Title (German):	Wahlpflichtbereich: Standard- und Lektürekurse (WWU)
Title (English):	Core Electives: Standard and reading courses (WWU)
Programme:	Public Governance across Borders

1	Number	:3	Status:	[] Comp	[] Compulsory [x] Elective			
2	Cycle:	[] every term [x] winter term [] summer term	Duration:	[] 1 Sem. [x] 2 Sem.	Semester:	EC: 10	Workload (hrs.): 280	

Structure:									
3	No.	Туре	Course	Status	EC	Contact hours (hrs. + SWH ⁷)	Self-study (hrs.)		
	1.	S	1 standard or reading course	[] P [x] WP	5	30 (2)	110		
	2.	S	1 standard or reading sourse	[] P [x] WP	5	30 (2)	110		

Content:

Within its three main research areas the Institute of Political Science offers a great number of standard courses and reading courses that focus on international and/or European politics or have a comparative nature (see list next page). Concepts of European integration and globalisation are treated in most of them, as these processes pose some of the major contemporary challenges to national political systems and also political science. Thus it is ensured that, even though students can choose courses according to personal interest, the courses fit the programme of European Public Administration.

Standard courses introduce specific research areas of political science. They give a profound overview on contemporary and classic questions and challenges of their specific research area. Thereby, they build on knowledge acquired within the core modules in year one and the basic courses in year two. Thus they encourage and indeed require from students to look into concepts, issues and methods of political science more deeply. Finally, within these courses, selected contemporary developments are methodologically and theoretically analysed and discussed.

Reading courses deepen the ability of students to read and understand political science texts. The range of courses encompasses classical authors and theories of political science (e.g. Hobbes, Locke, Tocqueville etc.) as well as contemporary texts.

- Standard and literature courses are constituted by the three research areas of the institute "Governance", "Civil Society and Democracy" and "Regionalisation and Globalisation". The following list specifies a number of political science issues that are regularly covered by standard courses:
 - Political parties and election processes
 - · Interest groups and associations
 - Media politics the public
 - Third sector, social capital and civil society
 - Political culture and democracy
 - Peace- and conflict studies
 - European integration
 - Local and regional governance
 - German foreign policy
 - International Political Economy
 - Global governance
 - Development studies
 - Policy Analysis

⁷ SWH: semester week hours (Semesterwochenstunden)

Acquired competences:

Students gain an overview on selected issues in political science. They are able to discuss and to deal with contemporary questions and challenges in political science and apply related theories and methods. Thus students get familiar with analysis in social science and learn to reflect critically on questions of political science before the background of the discipline.

In reading courses, students learn to read and understand complex texts from political science and to structure and interpret their content and results.

Within standard courses students also train their presentation skills and their ability to deal with complex problems in teams or individually.

Description of electives within the module:

Within this module, students can choose freely from courses offered by the Institute of Political Science. Thus, they can focus on courses that meet their individual interests. Students have to choose 1 standard course and one reading course. These different course types aim at conveying different important skills and a mixture of both is therefore sensible and made obligatory.

Assessment methods:

- [] Final Examination [Modulabschlussprüfung (MAP)]
- [] Examination [Modulprüfung (MP)]
- [x] Component Examinations [Modulteilprüfungen (MTP)]

	Required performance in examinations:		
	Quantity and form; connection to the course ⁸	Duration/ length	Weightage for overall grade of the module (%)
8	Students take required exams in two courses (standard or reading courses) of their choice. The lecturer chooses between a written test of 90 minutes, a paper of about 4,500 words or several essays with an overall word count of 4,500. According to prior agreement with the lecturer, documentations, small empirical assignments, the production of a movie or radio features can also be accepted as required examination.		
	Course 1: see above	90 min. / 4,500 words	50
	Course 2: see above	90 min. / 4,500 words	50

	Required course work (grading optional):	•
	Quantity and form; connection to the course	Duration/ length
9	Lecturers may request oral presentations of about 30 minutes, preparatory reading of relevant texts (approx. one hour of reading per week), participation in group assignments, writing of reviews, essays and summaries (up to 600 words) and other comparable assignments.	

Prerequisites for attaining credit points:

10 Credit points for the module can be attained if the entire module is passed successfully (the requirements of all relevant assignment need to be met)

Weighting of the grade of the module for the overall grade: The grade of the module weighs 5.6% for the overall grade

The grade of the module weights 5.0 % for the overall s

Prerequisites for participation:

No prerequisites

⁸ Not applicable for final examination (Modulabschlussprüfung)

13	Attendance:							
13	Regular attendance is highly recommended.							
1,4	Usability in other programmes:	Usability in other programmes:						
14	The module is designed for all bachelor programmes of the Institute of Political Science.							
	Person responsible for the module:	Department:						
15	Dr. Matthias Freise (WWU) Fachbereich 6: Erziehungswissenschaft und Sozialwissenschaften (WWU)							
	Other information:							
16	Registration for courses and examinations needs to be done via the electronic administration system of the university. Please follow the hints for required course work and examinations as announced on the homepage of the Institute of Political Science.							

Title	(Germa	an):	Methoden (WWU)									
Title	(Englis	sh):	Methods	Methods (WWU)								
Prog	ramme	:	Public Go	Public Governance across Borders								
1	Numb	er: 4		Status:	[x]	Comp	ulsory	[]	Elective			
2	Cycle: [x] winto			Duration:	[] 1 Se [x] 2 Se		Semester:	EC:		oad (hrs.): 280		
3	Structure: No. Type Course					Status		EC	Contact hours (hrs. + SWH ⁹)	Self-study (hrs.)		
	1.	L	Methods	l		[x] P	[] WP	4	30 (2)	80		
	2.	L	Statistics	l		[x] P	[] WP	3	30 (2)	55		
	3.	T	Tutorial			[x] P	[] WP	3	30 (2)	55		
4	contair with di skills) The led Scienc quantif method criteria Statisti Statisti course bivaria ordinal empha	ns the implement ty necessary cture theres. Next tative and as of dat and arteres I (Lectical training are theo te distribution and me	portant intripes of examples of examples of examples of their function focusses to the their distriction acquisition facts. The second of the	oduction into ninations and other study. on basic con oretical fram e paradigms on. Thereby interest of concurrence of concur	cepts and ework of are introduct concentration, measentration.	the his the res duced a quantit ches to sures of	e of Political Scienced ethics of scientific us hands them the to story and developme earch process, the nd compared. The compared of the empirical ethics of empirical ethics are the statistics, basic condispersion, coefficient empire, official statistics. Also, handling ethics	work and ools (e.g. was to fee methodole ourse also al research ical social cepts of sont ics are in	makes stud writing and irical resea ogical prind o offers an n and discu research. Co statistics, un centration, a nterpreted	lents familian presentation rch in Social ciples of the overview on usses quality ontent of the nivariate and nominal, with special		
5	Studer statisti	its are e cal calcul	ations and	document the	e results a	ccording	data. Moreover, the gly. Students can orga uainted with analysir	anise stati	stical tests			
6	Descri	ption of	electives v	vithin the mo	odule:							

⁹ SWH: semester week hours (Semesterwochenstunden)

Assessment methods: [] Final Examination [Modulabschlussprüfung (MAP)] [] Examination [Modulprüfung (MP)] [x] Component Examinations [Modulteilprüfungen (MTP)] Paguired performance in examinations:

	Required performance in examinations:		
8	Quantity and form; connection to the course 10	Duration/ length	Weightage for overall grade of the module (%)
o .	Methods: The lecturer chooses between a written test of 90 minutes, a paper of about 4,500 words or several essays with an overall word count of 4,500. According to prior agreement with the lecturer, documentations, small empirical assignments, the production of a movie or radio features can also be accepted as required examination.		50 %
			50 %

	Required course work (grading optional):							
		Duration/ length						
9	The tutors and lecturers may request working on exercises, oral presentations of about 30 minutes, preparatory reading of relevant texts (approx. one hour of reading per week), participation in group assignments, writing of reviews, essays and summaries (up to 600 words), and other comparable assignments.	adiacont						

Prerequisites for attaining credit points:

10 Credit points for the module can be attained if the entire module is passed successfully (the requirements of all relevant assignment need to be met)

Weighting of the grade of the module for the overall grade:

The grade of the module weighs 5.6% for the overall grade.

Prerequisites for participation:

No prerequisites

Attendance:

Regular attendance is highly recommended.

Usability in other programmes:

The module consists of courses (Methods I/Statistic I) designed for all bachelor programmes of the Institute of Political Science.

	Person responsible for the module:	Department:					
15	Prof. Dr. Oliver Treib (WWU)	Fachbereich 6: Erziehungswissenschaft und Sozialwissenschaften (WWU)					

Other information:

Registration for courses and examinations (WWU) needs to be done via the electronic administration system of the Münster University. Please follow the hints for required course work and examinations as announced on the homepage of the Institute of Political Science.

¹⁰ Not applicable for final examination (Modulabschlussprüfung)

Title ((Germ	nan):		Niederla	nde	-Deutsch	land-Studie	n (W	VU)				
Title ((Engli	sh):		Dutch-G	erma	an Studie	s (WWU)						
Progr	amm	e:		Public G	over	nance ac	ross Borde	rs					
1	Number: 5a Status: [] (Comp	ulsory		[x] Elect	ive			
2	Cycle: [] every term [x] winter term [x] summer term [x] 2 Sem. [x] 2 Sem.						Semest	ter:	EC: 10	Wor	kload (hrs.): 280		
3	Stru No.	cture: Type	Cours	e				9	itatus	EC	Contact h		Self-study (hrs.)
	1.	L	<u> </u>		of Dutch-German Relations					5	30 (2)	110
	2.	S	1 Stan	andard Course					[] WP	5	30 (2)	110
						thin European two countries the history of ommunication							
5	and Media" ("Kommunikation und Medien") and "Politics and Economics" ("Politik und Wirtschaft") from the Bachelor's Programme "Niederlande-Deutschland Studien". Acquired competences: Students acquire well-grounded knowledge of Dutch-German relations Dutch and German policy on the European Union foundations and contents of selected political discourses They are enabled to identify determinants of Dutch-German relations and analyse parameters of mutual perception												

- to filter and tap relevant contents and to present results in a comprehensive and target group related manner (e.g. by oral presentations and exams or by written papers and reviews)
- to research, to capitalise and to critically reflect the descriptive and normative information of relevant texts
- to develop research questions and to profoundly debate these on a high academic level.

Description of electives within the module:

Students may choose one course from the areas "Communication and Media" or "Politics and Economics"

Assessment methods:

- [] Final Examination [Modulabschlussprüfung (MAP)]
 - [] Examination [Modulprüfung (MP)]
 - [x] Component Examinations [Modulteilprüfungen (MTP)]

¹¹ SWH: semester week hours (Semesterwochenstunden)

	Required performance in examinations: Quantity and form; connection to the course ¹²		Duration/ length	Weightage for overall grade of the module (%)						
8	History of German-Dutch Relations (lecture): oral exam	30 min.	50							
	Course from "Communication and Media": presentation a review	•	15-20 min. 15 pages							
	Course from "Politics and Economics": presentation 8 review	& comparative	20 min. 10 pages	50						
	Required course work (grading optional):									
9	Quantity and form; connection to the course		Duration/ length							
9		Weekly reading assignments are obligatory to prepare sessions of lecture and seminar. Active participation during the sessions of lecture and seminar is expected.								
	Prerequisites for attaining credit points:									
10	Credit points for the module can be attained if the entire module is passed successfully (the requirements of all relevant assignment need to be met)									
	Weighting of the grade of the module for the overall grade:									
11	The grade of the module weighs 5.6% for the overall grade.									
	Prerequisites for participation:									
12	No prerequisites									
	Attendance:									
13	Regular attendance is highly recommended.									
14	Usability in other programmes: The courses of this module are used in other bachelor programmes of the Centre of Studies on the									
	Netherlands (Zentrum für Niederlande-Studien).	programmes	or the Centi	e of Studies of the						
	·	ırtment:								
15	Drot Dr Frico Wiolongs (W/WII)	e of Studies on um für Niederla								
16	Other information: Registration for courses and examinations needs to be done via the electronic administration system of the university. Please follow the hints for required course work and examinations as announced on the homepage of the Centre of Studies on the Netherlands (Zentrum für Niederlande-Studien).									

¹² Not applicable for final examination (Modulabschlussprüfung)

Title (Title (German): Öffentliches Europarecht (WWU)										
Title (Engli	sh):	Europear	n Public Law ((WWU)						
Progra	Programme: Public Governance across Borders										
1	Num	ı ber: 5b)	Status:	[](Comp	ulsory		[x] Electi	ve	
2	Cycl		[] every term [x] winter term [] summer term	Duration:	[] 1 Sen [x] 2 Sen		Semes		EC: 10	Wor	kload (hrs.): 280
	Stru	cture:									
3	No.	Туре	Course			S	tatus	EC	Contact h (hrs. + SV		Self-study (hrs.)
	1.	L	Constitutional La	aw (Staatsrecl	ht)	[x] P	[] WP	5	30 (2)	110
	2.	L	Administrative L	aw (Verwaltur	ngsrecht)	[x] P	[]WP	5	30 (2)	110
4	of Eu addre analy struc provi with to ca them admi	uropean essed a ysed. Future of de base the help tegories instration	conveys the differ Community Law and illustrated. Buthermore, the name constitutional of the for a claim are pof precedents. It is and reach as we with European is very action. The efforce of the module	y, its institut by means of nodule focus ojectives. The also dealt wit Moreover, the ell as structur institutions, i ect of Europe	ions, sourd selected pes on conse functions th. The apper module appers and the its organis	ces of recedestitution of ballication application,	law and ents fund fund fund fund fund fund fund fund	I the range that the second terms of the secon	elationship al freedoms pecial emphard off gove elevant basiof administrative law.	to nate of are of asis of are of asis of a contract of a c	tional law are discussed and on the internal action or to s is addressed aw by referring ents familiarise the bases of
5	The in admit are control applies funds differ are in citized studies effect.	module inistration designed ication amental rent are cularly, ntroducens (e.gents to tiveness	enables student on and to utilise to d to make the lo of public law. I rights and freed as of administrat lawfulness and ed to those area surveillance, co discern basic of s of administrative of electives wit	the expertise in the expertise is object of judicing the more on nation in the law, which is of administrations of erequirements.	in public la al reasonir tudents le nal and Eu h are of im of adminis trative law, oring or sub laws and ts at nation	w for page trained to the comment of	orofession nsparent o recogn n level. Since both for activities h — in the ation). Ge inistrative	nal or a and to ise th tudents or a pr s are m e publ enerally e action	cademic can define the e constitution of familiarise rofessional a nade transpa ic interest - r speaking, on and to	reer. The legal ional is thems and acaster. The have the motion in the motion is the motion in the m	ne two lectures bases for the safeguards of selves with the ademic career. Thus, students an impact on odule qualifies

[x] Final Examination [Modulabschlussprüfung (MAP)] [] Examination [Modulprüfung (MP)]
[] Component Examinations [Modulteilprüfungen (MTP)]

6

None

Assessment methods:

¹³ SWH: semester week hours (Semesterwochenstunden)

	Deguired newformense in eventinations.			1						
8	Required performance in examinations: Quantity and form; connection to the course ¹⁴	Weightage for overall grade of the module (%)								
	Written examination	100 %								
	Required course work (grading optional):									
9	Quantity and form; connection to the course	Duration/ length								
	The lecturer may request oral presentations of about 3 of relevant texts (approx. one hour of reading per assignments, writing of reviews, essays and summaric comparable assignments.	n in group	adiacont							
	Prerequisites for attaining credit points:									
10	Credit points for the module can be attained if the entire module is passed successfully (the requirements of all relevant assignment need to be met)									
	Weighting of the grade of the module for the overall grade:									
11	The grade of the module weighs 5.6% for the overall grade.									
12	Prerequisites for participation:									
	No prerequisites									
	Attendance:									
13	Regular attendance is highly recommended.									
14	Usability in other programmes:									
	None									
15	Person responsible for the module: D									
	Dr. Matthias Freise (WWU)	schaft und								
16	Other information: Registration for courses and examinations needs to be done via the electronic administration system of Münster university. Please follow the hints for required course work and examinations as announced on the homepage of the Institute of Political Science.									

¹⁴ Not applicable for final examination (Modulabschlussprüfung)

Title (German): Vergleichende Politikwissenschaft (WWU)															
Title (sh):		Comparative Politics (WWU)												
Progra	ammo	e:		Public Go	over	nance ac	ross Bord	ers							
1 Number: 6				Status: [x] Compulsory [] Elect						Electi	ve				
2	Cycle: [] winter		every] winte x] summ				Semester:		ter:		EC: Wor		kload (hrs.): 168		
	Structure:														
3	No. Type Course			e				Status EC		EC		Contact hours (hrs. + SWH ¹⁵)		Self-study (hrs.)	
	1.	L	Introdu	uction to C	action to Comparative Politics			[x]	x] P [] WP 3				30 (2)		54
	2.	Т	Tutoria	al				[x]	Р	[] WP	3		30 (2))	54
4	The problemost approved welfa	Content: The module conveys a comprehensive overview of development, theories, central approaches, topics, problems and methodological questions of comparative politics. Comparison is considered to be among the most important methods of political science. Comparative politics as a sub discipline of political science is approached by differentiating it into comparative government, comparative public policy, comparative welfare state research, comparative political economy. Furthermore, students are made familiar with selected classics of comparative politics. The tutorial deepens the content of the lecture and focuses on methodological and presentation skills.									be among the ical science is comparative familiar with				
5	Acquired competences: Students gain various analytical skills of comparison by applying comparative approaches to political systems, policy areas, topics and questions. They are acquainted with key findings of comparative politics. Moreover, students are able to recognise differences in systems of government, governance arrangements, political economies and welfare regimes in order to discuss disadvantages and advantages. Due to their knowledge of different systems of government and policy arrangements students are competent to analyse and discuss recent political developments in a global context. The tutorial is utilised for experiencing systematic group work and presenting complex issues.														
6	Description of electives within the module: For each Basic Course, several tutorials are offered. Students can choose freely from these tutorials according to their individual curricula.														
7	Assessment methods: [x] Final Examination [Modulabschlussprüfung (MAP)] [] Examination [Modulprüfung (MP)] [] Component Examinations [Modulteilprüfungen (MTP)]														
	Required performance in examinations:														
8	Quar	ntity and	l form; o	onnection to the course ¹⁶							Duration/ length		Weigh overal modu	l grade of the	
	The lecturer chooses between a written test of 90 m about 4,500 words or several essays with an overall wo								illiules, a papel oi j			90 mi 4,500 words		100	

¹⁵ SWH: semester week hours (Semesterwochenstunden)¹⁶ Not applicable for final examination (Modulabschlussprüfung)

	Required course work (grading optional):									
9	Quantity and form; connection to the course	Duration/ length								
	The tutors and lecturers may request oral presorpreparatory reading of relevant texts (approx. of participation in group assignments, writing of review 600 words) and other comparable assignments.	adiacont								
	Prerequisites for attaining credit points:									
10	Credit points for the module can be attained if the entire module is passed successfully (the requirements of all relevant assignments need to be met)									
44	Weighting of the grade of the module for the overall grade:									
11	The grade of the module weighs 3.3% for the overall grade.									
12	Prerequisites for participation:									
	No prerequisites									
13	Attendance:									
	Regular attendance is highly recommended.									
14	Usability in other programmes:									
	The module is designed for all bachelor programmes of the Institute of Political Science.									
	Person responsible for the module:	Department:								
15	Prof. Dr. Annette Zimmer (WWU)	Fachbereich 6: Erziehungswissenschaft und Sozialwissenschaften (WWU)								
16	Other information: Registration for courses and examinations needs to be done via the electronic administration system of the university. Please follow the hints for required course work and examinations as announced on the homepage of the Institute of Political Science.									

Title (German): Internationale Beziehungen (V					ungen (WWI	U)						
Title (English): International Rela					onal Relation	s (WWU)						
Progra	amm	e:		Public Go	overnance ac	ross Border	S					
1	Num	ber: 7			Status:	[x] (Comp	ulsory		[] Elect	ive	
2	Cycle: [] every [] winte [x] sumn				Duration:	Duration: [x] 1 Sem. [] 2 Sem.		Semester:		EC: 6		
	Stru	cture:		1			1					1
3	No. Type		Course			S	Status EC		Contact hours (hrs. + SWH ¹⁷)		Self-study (hrs.)	
	1.	L	Introdu	uction to l	nternational F	Relations	[x] P	[] WP	3	30 (2)	54
	2.	Т	Tutoria	al			[x] P	[] WP	3	30 (2)	54
5	Content: The module conveys a fundamental knowledge about actors, structures, and processes of Europeanization and Globalisation. At the same time, theoretical approaches to International Relations are introduced. The concept of 'actor' includes governmental as well as non-governmental actors. 'Structures' contain elements such as balance of power, anarchy, hegemony or interdependence. They are to be analysed in terms of their implications for actors. The most important processes are war and peace, globalisation, development, institutionalisation, and cooperation. Focus on processes allows addressing contemporary and recent developments in world politics. The tutorial deepens the content of the lecture and focuses on methodological and presentation skills. Questions of how International Relations in Europe influenced European unification and how today, the European Union acts as international actor are raised and discussed. Acquired competences: Students gain comprehensive knowledge of International Relations. This enables them to bring single events and phenomena into relation of larger contexts. Consequently, students can analyse and discuss them from different theoretical perspectives. The tutorial serves as a place for experiencing systematic group work and presenting complex issues.											
6	Description of electives within the module: None											
7	Assessment methods: [] Final Examination [Modulabschlussprüfung (MAP)] [] Examination [Modulprüfung (MP)] [x] Component Examinations [Modulteilprüfungen (MTP)]											
	Required performance in examinations:											
8	Quar	ntity and	d form; o	onnection to the course ¹⁸						Ouration/ ength	Weigh overal modu	ll grade of the
	The lecturer chooses between a written test of 90 m about 4,500 words or several essays with an overall wo								er or i	90 min. / 4,500	100	

¹⁷ SWH: semester week hours (Semesterwochenstunden) ¹⁸ Not applicable for final examination (Modulabschlussprüfung)

	Required course work (grading optional):							
	Quantity and form; connection to the course	Duration/ length						
9	The tutors and lecturers may request oral presorpreparatory reading of relevant texts (approx. o participation in group assignments, writing of review 600 words) and other comparable assignments.	adjacent						
10	Prerequisites for attaining credit points: Credit points for the module can be attained if the entire module is passed successfully (the requirements of all relevant assignment need to be met)							
44	Weighting of the grade of the module for the overall grade:							
11	The grade of the module weighs 3.3% for the overall grade.							
	Prerequisites for participation:							
12	No prerequisites							
	Attendance:							
13	Regular attendance is highly recommended.							
	Usability in other programmes:							
14	The module is designed for all bachelor programmes of the Institute of Political Science.							
	Person responsible for the module:	Department:						
15	Prof. Doris Fuchs Ph.D. (WWU)	D. (WWU) Fachbereich 6: Erziehungswissenschaft und Sozialwissenschaften (WWU)						
16	Other information: Registration for courses and examinations needs to be done via the electronic administration system of the university. Please follow the hints for required course work and examinations as announced on the homepage of the Institute of Political Science.							

Modules in year 2 and 3

The modules in year 2 and 3 of the programme lie in the responsibility of the School of Management and Governance (MB) of Twente University. Due to re-structuring of the bachelor programmes at MB, these modules are still in development. They will be included in the examination regulations at a later stage.

Requirement for studying the modules offered by Twente University is the fulfilment of § 6 (2).

Modules concerned:

Module 8 – Value for Money

Module 9 – Best Practices in Public Governance

Module 10a – Global Governance

Module 10b – European Governance

Module 10b – (Sub-) national Governance

Module 11 – Advanced Professional Skills

Module 12 - Advanced Research Skills

Module 13+14 - Free Electives

Module 15 – Exchange

Module 16 – Internship

Title ((German):	Studiena	Studienabschluss (WWU/UT)							
Title ((English):	Thesis Se	Thesis Semester (WWU/UT)							
Progr	amme:	Public Go	Public Governance across Borders							
1 Number: 17		17	Status:	[x] Compulsory		[] Elective				
2	Cycle:	[x] every term [] winter term []summer term	Duration:	[] 1 Quartile [x] 2 Quartiles	Semester: 6 (Quartile 3+4)	EC: 30	Workload (hrs.): 840			
	Structure:					Contact h	nours Self-study			

	Structure:									
3	No.	Туре	Course	Status	EC	Contact hours (hrs. + SWH ¹⁹)	Self-study (hrs.)			
	1.	R	Research Classes/Preparatory Courses	[x] P [] WP	15	120 (8)	300			
	2.	В	Bachelor Assignment	[x] P [] WP	15	-	420			

Content:

This module consisting of a research class (Forschungskolloquium) and the bachelor assignment is in principle the final part of the joint bachelor programme "Public Governance across Borders". The work amounts to 15 EC.

The following preparatory procedure applies for the bachelor assignment:

- a) Picking a subject and supervisors (from WWU and UT)
- b) Drawing up a research plan
- c) Presentation of the research proposal at a research class
- **d)** Conducting research

The exact procedure is described within the Bachelor Thesis Guide which forms part of the Examinations Regulations.

Students can start on their thesis research as soon as the thesis plan has been approved by the thesis supervisors who need to be from WWU and UT. Students present a first research proposal during a research class and are also required to discuss research proposals of other students throughout the 6th semester. Topic, research question and scope of the bachelor thesis are to be framed in a way that students can finish the assignment within 12 weeks. The student gives an account of the execution and results of the bachelor assignment through a written report (bachelor thesis; language: English) and an oral presentation and defence (colloquium; language: English). The amount of the written report is a maximum of 25 pages (10,000 to 12,000 words), excluding the table of contents, appendices, list of literature etc. The form of the report is as is usual in scientific and professional journals. The oral presentation has the form of a public presentation and takes 15-20 minutes and is followed by a discussion with the audience. Because of the limited amount of time, the presentation must be concise and understandable for a broad audience. The presentation is part of the bachelor colloquium/defence, which altogether lasts 60 minutes.

Acquired competences:

5

The objectives of the bachelor thesis have been derived from the general so-called Dublin objectives for bachelor programmes. Students that have finished a bachelor programme should be able to:

- 1. show that they have knowledge of the most recent developments in their academic field;
- 2. use their knowledge and insights (including methodological skills) to address practical issues in their field:
- 3. give a well-balanced assessment of their own work, from an academic angle, from the practical side, and from the ethical perspective;
- 4. communicate (both orally and in writing) their ideas and insights to a mixed public;
- 5. work independently.

6 Description of electives within the module: None

¹⁹ SWH: semester week hours (Semesterwochenstunden)

	Assessment methods:							
7	[x] Final Examination [Modulabschlussprüfung (MAP)] [] Examination [Modulprüfung (MP)]							
	[] Component Examinations [Modulteilprüfungen (M	TP)]						
	Required performance in examinations:							
	nogenea performance in examinations.	Weightage for						
8	Quantity and form; connection to the course ²⁰	Duration/ length	overall grade of the module (%)					
	Research Class: Research Proposal	3500 words	0					
	Bachelor Thesis		10,000 to 12,000 words	90				
	Oral defence		60 min. colloquium	10				
	Required course work (grading optional):							
	Quantity and form; connection to the course			Duration/ length				
9	The lecturer may request oral presentations of about of relevant texts (ca. one hour of reading per assignments, and other comparable assignments.							
10	Prerequisites for attaining credit points: Credit points for the module can be attained if the entire module is passed successfully (the requirements of all relevant assignment need to be met).							
	Weighting of the grade of the module for the overall grade:							
11	The grade of the module weighs 16.7% for the overall	•						
	Prerequisites for participation:							
12	Students can only start their bachelor assignments if they have acquired at least 135 EC.							
13	Attendance:							
	Regular attendance is highly recommended.							
	Usability in other programmes:							
14	The module is designed for the Bachelor's Programs BSK (ES), Twente University) and the Double Deg Borders.							
	Person responsible for the module:							
15	Prof. Dr. Norbert Kersting (WWU) Prof. Bert de Vroom (UT) Fachbereich 6: Erziehungswissenschaft und Sozialwissenschaften (WWU) School of Management and Governance (UT)							
	Other information:							
16	Registration for courses and examinations needs to be done via the electronic administration system of Twente University (OSIRIS). Please follow the hints for required course work and examinations as announced on Osiris (http://www.utwente.nl/onderwijssystemen/onderwijssystemen/osiris) Registration for courses and examinations (WWU) needs to be done via the electronic administration system of Münster University. Please follow the hints for required course work and examinations as announced on the homepage of the Institute of Political Science.							
	Students have to fill in the Assignment form and the Application form through the link to SMS at the Blackboard site of the course 'Bachelor opdracht ES' (see Course Materials) as soon as they have found an assignment. The Assignment form must be signed by the supervisor. Afterwards the form must be handed in at the Ravelijn-building, room RA 2402 (inbox S. Zuidema).							

²⁰ Not applicable for final examination (Modulabschlussprüfung)

APPENDIX III: BACHELOR THESIS GUIDE 2012/2013 EUROPEAN STUDIES

Three year international bachelor programme ES (ESB)/ Third year bachelor programme BSK-ES (Double Diploma)

From 2010 on all students have to register at the Blackboard site of the course 'Bachelor opdracht ES'. There you can find all the necessary information (forms etc.)

1. Introduction

The bachelor thesis is in principle the final part of both Bachelor-programmes in European Studies: the three year international bachelor programme (ESB) and the third year of the bachelor programme BSK-ES (including the Double Diploma programme with Münster). The thesis amounts to 15 EC (i.e. 420 hours or 12 weeks).

Students can <u>start</u> on their thesis research as soon as the thesis plan has been approved by the thesis supervisors. Students that go on internships abroad (as part of the minor International Management, the minor Sustainable Development and/or their thesis research) will be able to do so as from week 9, but these students have to make sure that their thesis research plan is approved in week 7 or 8.

All ESB-students and Dutch BSK-ES-students can only start their bachelor thesis if they fulfil these requirements:

- 1.1. they have completed with success the propaedeutic exam, i.e. successfully passed from the first into the second year following § 6 par. 2 of the examination regulations.
- 1.2. they have acquired at least 135 EC.

The objectives of the bachelor thesis have been derived from the general so-called Dublin objectives for Bachelor programmes²¹. Students that have finished a Bachelor programme should be able to:

- 1. show that they have knowledge of the most recent developments in their academic field (i.c. Public Administration & European Studies);
- 2. use their knowledge and insights (including methodological skills) to address practical issues in their field;
- 3. give a well-balanced assessment of their own work, from an academic angle, from the practical side, and from the ethical perspective;
- 4. communicate (both orally and in writing) their ideas and insights to a mixed public;
- 5. work independently.

This outline describes the way this part of the programme is organised (section 2), the way of assessment, that is based on the objectives listed above (section 3), and the procedures to be followed (section 4). Section 5 is only relevant for the students of the BK-ES Double Diploma programme. It explains the procedure to receive both your Dutch and German diploma.

²¹ This English outline is based on the Dutch version which deals with these objectives at greater length.

2. Organization

2.1. Thesis subjects

Subjects for thesis research can be supplied in various ways:

- internally, by professors of UT (and WWU for the BSK-ES Double diploma);
- externally, by governments, businesses or other organisations;
- by the student him/herself;

Moreover, the thesis research can be combined with research done within the framework of the minor International Management or the minor Sustainable Development.

In order to facilitate students a <u>subject database</u> will be developed for students of European Studies specifically. The database will be operational as from week 49 (and is accessible from the CES-site:

http://www.mb.utwente.nl/ces/ba-dd/Writing%20your%20Bachelor%20thesis/). It can also be found on the Blackboard site of the bachelor thesis 'Bachelor opdracht ES'.

Students that are aiming for external subjects/internships should take proper initiatives for it themselves. CES staff can help them, provided that they:

- have already picked an organisation;
- provide the name, telephone number and e-mail address of the person to contact within that organisation (no general contact information!);
- come up with one or two alternative subjects;
- come up with a brief curriculum vitae.

In deciding whether a thesis subject is suited for thesis research the following aspects will be taken into account:

- Does the subject enable the student to show that he/she meets the overall programme objectives (listed in the introduction)?
- Can the research be finished within 420 hours?
- Is it relevant in an academic sense, i.c. relevant to European Studies?
- Is it relevant in a practical/empirical sense, i.c. relevant to practical issues of European integration and governance?

For students that want to combine the International Management minor field study or the Sustainable Development minor field study with their bachelor thesis, it is important that they realise beforehand that in principle they have to come up with two theses:

- A minor thesis in the field of International Management Sustainable Development, which will be assessed by the staff that offers these minors:
- A Bachelor thesis (assessed by the Bachelor thesis supervisors) that has sufficient 'European' content. These students will have to explicitly link their minor thesis findings to Europe and/or the EU. In most cases it will be possible to do so by simply formulating questions that follow-up on or are related to the minor research like: What are the implications for the EU's policy? Or: What lessons can be drawn for the EU? Or: What does this mean to the relationship of the EU with other countries?²²

Bachelor theses that are extended versions only of the minor thesis will not do, as we cannot give you double credits for the same piece of work. It is however possible, after consent of your supervisors, to come up with a combined thesis that covers both the minor research questions and the bachelor thesis research questions.

²² If you have problems formulating such follow-up questions, simply go through the issues covered in the core courses of European Studies, and something interesting is bound to come up.

2.2. Workplace and internships, costs

The actual place where the thesis research is conducted can also vary, and can include an internship (in the Netherlands or Germany, or in a foreign country). Neither UT nor WWU will deal with your legal status as an employee (salary, insurance et cetera). Neither will we reimburse you any of the (travel) costs you make as part of your research. There is however a collective travel insurance scheme²³.

2.3. Supervision

The Bachelor's assignment is not supervised by a single responsible instructor; instead, a Bachelor's committee is assembled (two supervisors) for each assignment. The Bachelor's committee for the Double Diploma of the University of Twente and the Westfälische Wilhelms-Universität Münster consists of lecturers from both universities. The Bachelor's assignment is evaluated on an individual basis. The Bachelor's assignment tests the student's competence in the integrated application of the knowledge, comprehension and skills covered in the study units. The Examination Board prescribes an evaluation checklist to help ensure the quality of the evaluation (see appendix 2).

If the minor thesis and the bachelor thesis are combined, students will be supervised by a two-person-committee, consisting of the minor supervisor and the European Studies supervisor. It is up to them to decide whether you write a combined thesis or two separate ones. In most cases the organisation that offers an internship also offers an (external) supervisor that will cooperate with the internal supervisors. If an internship is done abroad, it is compulsory to have an external supervisor. The external supervisor will act as sparring partner, will make sure that you will be properly introduced in the organisation, will provide the information you need to do your thesis research, and will advise the internal supervisors in the end regarding the assessment of the bachelor thesis. In all cases, the internal supervisors are responsible for the final assessment of the thesis.

2.4. Preparatory course

For the programme ESB in addition to the bachelor thesis the preparatory course 'Research proposal bachelor thesis' (course code 194128080) is included in the curriculum. Students for the programme BSK-ES (including the Double Diploma programme) are advised to do this preparatory course as an optional course. If they do not choose do to follow this preparatory course the research plan must be made within the 15 EC available for the ES-bachelor thesis under supervision of the examiners.

2.5. Written and oral report

The student gives an account of the execution and results of the bachelor assignment through a written report (bachelor thesis) and an oral presentation. The amount of the written report is a maximum of 25 pages (about 10.000 words), excluding the table of contents, appendices, list of literature etc. The form of the report is as is usual in scientific and professional journals. The oral presentation has the form of a public presentation and takes 15-20 minutes and is followed by questions from the supervisors and a discussion with the audience. Because of the limited amount of time (about 60 minutes), the oral presentation must be concise and understandable for a broad audience. The presentation is part of the bachelor colloquium.

²³ See the manual MB-Bachelor programs going abroad for more information on internships in a foreign country and http://www.utwente.nl/internationaloffice/practical/travelinsurance/ for more information on insurances.

2.6. Bachelor colloquium

The presentation takes place in the form a colloquium. This is a concise public presentation of 15-20 minutes. The oral presentation is followed by questioning by the supervisors and a discussion with the audience, which is led by the supervisors (examiners). If all requirements for the bachelor programme are met, the bachelor diploma is conferred at the colloquium. To be able to make sure that during the graduation all administrative requirements have been met, it is necessary to inform the Educational Office (BOZ) in time – at least 15 working days before – on the desired graduation date.

3. Assessment

The assessment of the bachelor thesis will be based on three aspects:

- a) The thesis as such. Obviously, this is the most important aspect. The assessment will include both the academic content of the thesis ('matter') as its merits as a means of communication ('form'). The thesis has to be written in English;
- b) The way the thesis research has been conducted ('process');
- c) The final colloquium which will consist of a 15-20 minutes presentation of the research, followed by discussion. The colloquium is public, and the audience will be made up of fellow-students, family, and the thesis supervisors.

The assessment will be done by the internal supervisors, if necessary taking into account the opinion of the external supervisor, if any. The final responsibility and the decision power however rests with the internal supervisors (examiners).

The mark will be given in whole points, on a scale from 0 to 10. The bachelor programme can only be finished after receiving a mark of 6 or more for the bachelor thesis (no marks lower than 6 are allowed for the thesis). Students are admitted to their colloquium only if assessment points a. and b. (matter, form, process) are expected to merit a minimum mark of 6, based on the draft thesis. A complete list of the assessment criteria can be found in appendix 2.

In case the minor thesis and bachelor thesis are combined, there is still a separate assessment of the thesis by the minor supervisor and the ES supervisor, which could lead to different marks for the same thesis because of differences in assessment criteria.

4. Procedure

In order to finish you have to go through the following steps:

Step	Statement needed
A. Pick a subject and (internal) supervisors	
B. Draw up a research plan, discuss it with the supervisors	
C. Conduct your actual research	Starting statement
D. Hand in the draft thesis to (internal) supervisors, get feedback and revise the thesis	
E. Final revision of the thesis	Colloquium statement
F. Colloquium	

From 2010 on students have to fill in the Assignment form and the Application form through the link to SMS at the Blackboard site of the course 'Bachelor opdracht ES' (see Course Materials) as soon as you have found an assignment. The Assignment form must be signed by the first supervisor. Afterwards the form must be printed out and handed in in the Ravelijn-building at BOZ (Educational Office).

STEP A

You can start with this step right away. Actually, it does make sense to start well in time with finding a thesis subject and supervisors. You can contact organisations or professors yourself, but you can also use the BA-ES subject database (as from the end of November 2012).

STEP B

The research plan has to include:

- Personal details (name, student#, address, telephone, e-mail et cetera)
- Brief abstract of the research proposal
- Background of the research (what problem is involved?, why is it interesting to do research on that problem?)
- Objectives of the research (academic, practical)
- Central question the research addresses, followed by sub-questions
- Overview of the literature that will be used (with a list of references at the end of the plan)
- Discussion of the main methodological choices (how will the research be conducted, and why? What data will be used?)
- Preliminary contents of the thesis (chapters, paragraphs)
- Detailed planning over the 10,5 weeks involved.

Please bear in mind that your bachelor thesis is very similar to (but larger than) the papers you have written for the core courses in European studies, so please use our European Studies guide on Writing Papers (available on the CES-site). Moreover, it is advisable to also have a look at the – also highly similar – structure for research proposals used by the minors.

The research plan has to be discussed with your supervisors. In general, make sure that you make an appointment well in time, and make sure that your supervisors have sufficient time to read your documents. Incorporate such 'delays' in your initial planning!

Your supervisors will decide whether the research qualifies as Bachelor-ES thesis research, taking into account the criteria listed in appendix 2. Moreover they will assess the feasibility of your plan. It is possible that you need to revise your initial research plan. When the supervisors are satisfied with your plan, together you must fill out two forms (Assignment form and Application form) at the link to the SMS-system at the Blackboard-site.

STEP C

It is obligatory to discuss your research with your supervisors during step A and D, but most likely you may need more input from their side. Establish a workable engagement with your supervisors, especially when you conduct your research abroad.

STEP D

Make sure that your draft thesis is complete from cover to cover, because at this stage you probably do not want to be confronted with any delays. Also make sure that you and your supervisors agree on what needs to be done in terms of revision.

This step should be concluded by the signing by the supervisors of the **Colloquium statement**. Moreover you should pick a date/time for your colloquium. It may be advisable to pick a preliminary date together with your supervisors at an earlier stage. Please bear in mind that at UT we have an academic recess that runs from the end of June 2013 to the end of August 2013. Sometime in between these dates your supervisors are likely to enjoy their holidays.

You hand in your Colloquium statement at BOZ and inform them of the planned colloquium date. If you have completed all other parts of the Bachelor programme, BOZ will arrange a venue for you to hold your colloquium and will make the necessary announcements. You must inform BOZ at least 3 WEEKS (15 working days) in advance of your colloquium date.

STEP E

In the meanwhile you can work on the final version of your thesis. Ultimately ONE WEEK (which means 5 working days) before the colloquium you have to hand in paper copies of the final report to your internal supervisors. You also have to send a digital version of your thesis to: scripties_mb@mb.utwente.nl

STEP F

Finally you will be preparing your presentation and defence of the thesis at the colloquium.

5. Procedure to receive your Dutch and German diploma (BSK-ES Double Diploma)

German Students must hand over their study results from Münster to BOZ before the colloquium and must send their study results and a copy of the Dutch diploma to the administration in Münster themselves after the colloquium OR hand these over in Twente to BOZ who will send it to Muenster for you.

Criteria and assessment of the thesis plan

Criteria:

The thesis plan includes:

- a short summary of the plan
- objective: a short and clears description of the goals of the research or the design (scientific and societal interest)
- a sharply formulated research question and possible sub-questions
- approach/strategy
 - which theories are used for the answer of the research question and the subquestions
 - which data are used for the answer
 - which research methods and techniques are used
 - justification of the choices made
- the expected end results
- time planning and time expenditure: an estimation of the time needed for the different activities, provided with dates and products/results to be delivered.
- a list of literature consulted (or eventually to be consulted)

Assessment:

The thesis plan or design plan is formally assessed at its feasibility. Especially the following points are taken into account:

- 1. is the objective clear
- 2. are the research question and the sub-questions clear (what is and what isn't included in the research and how is this motivated)
- 3. does the answer to the research question contribute to the objective (relevance)
- 4. are the starting-points and the suppositions explicit
- 5. are the theories useful for answering the research-question; have alternative possibilities been considered; are choices motivated
- 6. are the right data collected for answering the research-question; are all data to be collected necessary for the answer; has a realistic estimation been made for the time needed and the possibilities for the data-collection
- 7. is it clear why is chosen to use certain methods; are the right methods chosen for answering the research question
- 8. is the expected end result feasible
- 9. is the time planning feasible
- 10. is the relevant literature used for answering the research question

Criteria for the assessment of the thesis

The official bachelor thesis assessment form can be found on the CES-site and on Blackboard: http://www.utwente.nl/mb/ces/ba-dd/Writing%2oyour%2oBachelor%2othesis/

Identifying the research problem

The student has demonstrated that he/she is capable of formulating a relevant research problem for a relatively simple research or design assignment under supervision, including research and/or design questions and a corresponding strategy or general line of approach. He/she has provided argumentation for the choices made, based on an identification of the objective, the core problem and the relevant solution parameters on the one hand and the theory and/or empirical considerations on the other hand.

Literature review & theoretical/conceptual framework

The student has demonstrated that he/she is capable of compiling a number of conventional scientific and professional sources which are relevant to the assignment and of studying them critically. The student has also demonstrated that he/she is capable of constructing a theoretical and conceptual framework through proper use of theories, models and concepts which he/she has selected and which are relevant to the field in question. This framework enables the research question to be accentuated in a clearly structured and manageable manner. In doing so, he/she has incorporated aspects of the latest developments in the field.

Research design/approach to problem

The student has demonstrated that he/she is capable of drawing up an action plan for carrying out the (design oriented) research under supervision. In doing so, he/she has made critical use of existing conceptual frameworks and standard operationalization methods. The student has provided adequate argumentation for the approach selected and has ensured that it follows logically from the research problem and the theoretical framework.

Data collection and data analysis and/or design and validation of the design

The student has demonstrated that he/she is capable of handling the instruments for data collection and analysis in a valid and reliable manner with a degree of supervision resulting in a data set and corresponding analysis results which enable him/her to answer the research questions and/or: The student has demonstrated that he/she can adequately handle the instruments for designing, selecting and validating solutions with a degree of supervision, resulting in a design for the solution to the problem which meets the set specifications/requirement.

Conclusions and recommendations

The student has demonstrated that he/she is capable of describing research and design results and of relating them to the research problem, the research or design questions and the relevant literature. The student has also demonstrated the ability to reflect critically on the strengths and weaknesses of the research carried out and, when forming an opinion of the results, to give due consideration to the scope for generalization on the one hand and the social, societal and/or ethical aspects in the immediate context on the other hand.

Written reporting

The student has demonstrated that he/she is able to present the data — in qualitative and/or quantitative form — clearly and according to accepted scientific convention. His/her argumentation is structured, logical and linguistically correct, and the literature references have been incorporated according to a scientific standard used in the field in question.

Oral reporting (colloquium)

The student has demonstrated that he/she is capable of giving a presentation which is clear, structured, satisfactorily illustrated with visual aids, and comprehensible to listeners of various levels and from different backgrounds, whereby due consideration is given to both the design and the key results of the assignment and argumentation is given to support the most important choices.

Independence and professional skills

The student has demonstrated a degree of independence in preparing and executing the assignment and is capable of planning and managing the research and/or design process (within a time limit). The student has also demonstrated the skills needed to cooperate effectively and has shown the capacity to function adequately within an organizational context. Lastly, the student has demonstrated the ability to reflect on his/her own performance, including the capacity to identify a number of lessons for the future.